
 

 
STATE OF RHODE ISLAND AND PROVIDENCE PLANTATIONS 
HISTORICAL PRESERVATION & HERITAGE COMMISSION 
Old State House  150 Benefit Street  Providence, RI 02903 
 
Telephone 401-222-2678           
TTY 401-222-3700 

Fax 401-222-2968 
www.preservation.ri.gov 

 
MINUTES 

RHODE ISLAND HISTORICAL PRESERVATION & HERITAGE COMMISSION 
March 11, 2020 

 
Conference Room 300 

Rhode Island Department of Environmental Management 
235 Promenade St. Providence, RI 02908 

 
 
I. MEMBERS PRESENT 
 Mr. Michael Abbott, AIA 
 Dr. Morgan Grefe 
 Ms. Tanya Kelley 
 Dr. E. Pierre Morenon 

Mr. Clark Schoettle 
 Ms. Lucie Searle  
 Ms. Ruth Taylor, Chair 
 
MEMBERS ABSENT 

Mr. Warren Ducharme, representing the State Building Code Commissioner 
 Dr. Tripp Evans  
 Mr. Paul Jordan, representing Janet Coit, Director, DEM 
 Mr. John Paul Loether, State Historic Preservation Officer 
 Ms. Meredith Brady, Assoc. Dir., Div. of Statewide Planning 
 Ms. Kaity Ryan 
 Mr. Jesse Saglio, President, Rhode Island Commerce Corporation 
 Mr. John Smith 
 
 
STAFF PRESENT 
 Joanna Doherty, Principal Architectural Historian 
 Jeffrey Emidy, Deputy Director 
 Timothy Ives, Principal Archaeologist 
 Katherine Pomplun, Senior Grants Coordinator 
 Roberta Randall, Principal Historical Architect 
 Elizabeth Rochefort, Principal Architectural Historian 
 James Toner, Project Review Coordinator 
  
 



RIHPHC MINUTES     2               March 11, 2020 
 
GUESTS PRESENT 
 Diane Bakley, President, Beavertail Lighthouse Museum Association 
 Steve Meade, Buildings and Grounds, Beavertail Lighthouse Museum Association 
 
 
II. AGENDA 
 
1. Call to Order 
 
 The meeting was called to order at 9:30 A.M., Ms. Taylor, Chair, presiding. 
 
 
2. Election of Commission officers 
 

Mr. Emidy informed the Commissioners that it is time to elect a Chair and Secretary for 
the Commission. As requested at the last meeting, commissioners notified Mr. Loether of 
their nominations. Two nominations were received: each nominated Ruth Taylor for 
Chair and Michael Abbott for Secretary.  
 
Ms. Taylor and Mr. Abbott were asked if they are willing to serve in these positions. 
Both replied in the affirmative. Mr. Emidy asked if there were any other nominations. 
There were none.  
 
Mr. Emidy asked for a vote to confirm Ms. Taylor as Chair of the Commission. The 
commissioners voted unanimously in the affirmative.  
 
Mr. Emidy asked for a vote to confirm Mr. Abbott as Secretary of the Commission. The 
commissioners voted unanimously in the affirmative. 
 

 
3. Minutes of February 12, 2020  
 

Mr. Emidy asked the commissioners to review the draft minutes that were supplied by 
email before the meeting and were distributed in hard copy this morning. Mr. Abbott 
stated that the name “Gardiner” is misspelled on page 4. Mr. Emidy noted that he thinks 
that the paragraph is not completely accurate and he will check with Ms. Zurier to make 
corrections.  
 
On a motion by Ms. Kelley, seconded by Mr. Abbott, the commissioners voted 
unanimously to approve the minutes of February 12, 2020, with corrections.  

 
 
4.   Deputy Director’s Report 
 

Mr. Emidy reported that Mr. Loether is in Washington for Preservation Advocacy week. 
Mr. Emidy relayed the following report from Mr. Loether: 



RIHPHC MINUTES     3               March 11, 2020 
 

a) Mr. Loether testified on behalf of RIHPHC in favor of the cultural bond funding 
proposals for both our State Preservation Grant Program and the R.I. State 
Council on the Arts specific and general grants 

b) Mr. Loether continues to work closely with the state Human Resources office to 
revise our approximately 30-year old staff job classifications and to appropriately 
adjust related staff pay grades. The process is proceeding at Human Resources, 
but passing any changes through the budget office will probably be a bigger 
hurdle. 

c) Mr. Loether continues to work with the Office of the Attorney General, the legal 
division at the Department of Administration, and the Australian National 
Maritime Museum to finalize a long-term loan agreement for cannon to be raised 
from the wreck of the Lord Sandwich (originally HMS Endeavor). The Museum 
wants to raise one of the two cannon from the wreck and bring it to Australia so 
that its conservation can be viewed as it happens by museum guests.  

d) Mr. Loether interviewed two law students from the Roger Williams University 
School of Law to work as summer RIHPHC interns developing drafts of 
regulations for the State Review Board and State Archeological Landmarks. Both 
said that they are interested in the internships. 

e) Mr. Loether was contacted by Commissioner Abbott to let him know that Salve 
Regina University (SRU) had a video on its website that states that the project to 
construct two new dormitories on the campus is “endorsed” by the RIHPHC. Mr. 
Loether sent a letter to the SRU president stating that the Commission has not 
“endorsed” the project and requesting that the video be modified. The president 
was out of town at the time, but asked Michael Semenza to respond. Mr. Semenza 
called Mr. Emidy to apologize and stated that SRU had removed the video from 
its website and was modifying it. Similar terminology on other SRU 
communications was also being removed. The president later contacted Mr. 
Loether to apologize for the error. The video has been modified.   

 
 

5. For information:  Update on 2020 Statewide Historic Preservation Conference 
 
 Ms. Zurier informed the commissioners that, while planning for the conference has been 

continuing, the recent outbreak of COVID-19 has raised questions about whether or not 
the conference will be held on April 25. She has asked for advice from the state 
Department of Health. CCRI has officially cancelled all gatherings of 100 or more people 
up to April 10th. Grow Smart RI has postponed their March Power of Place Summit. The 
Society of Architectural Historians has cancelled their March conference in Seattle. The 
pressing concern is our message to the public and our participants. What should we be 
telling them right now, or when? 

 
 Ms. Searle asked what the typical attendance is at our conference. Ms. Zurier replied that 

it is 400 to 500 people. So far, about 140 people have registered, which equals about 200 
people when you include speakers.  

 
 The commissioners and Ms. Zurier discussed the timing of making a decision about 



RIHPHC MINUTES     4               March 11, 2020 
 

either postponing or cancelling the conference, when the RIHPHC should make a public 
statement about the conference, and how to contact those who might be interested in the 
information. The following suggestions were made: 

 Wait until next week to make a decision about whether or not to cancel. This 
will allow for Mr. Loether, Ms. Zurier, Joyce Gervasio, Mr. Emidy, and Janet 
Balletto to discuss the pros and cons of when to make a decision and whether 
to postpone or cancel the conference; 

 Wait until a decision has been made, then email those who have agreed to 
participate or have already registered to update them on the status of the 
conference and any next steps that we are taking; 

 Do not post anything on the website until the conference is postponed or 
cancelled; until then, we are still working under the assumption that the 
conference will be held. 

  
Ms. Searle stated that the commissioners appreciate what Ms. Zurier is doing to work 
through this rapidly-evolving situation. 
  

 
6. For consideration:       2020 Certified Local Government Grants 
 

Katherine Pomplun reported on the 2020 Certified Local Government grants program.  
Applications were released in October 2019 and due by December 31, 2019. We received 
eight applications requesting a total of $76,500. Rhode Island anticipates a FFY 2020 
Historic Preservation Fund (HPF) award of $626,984, which will include approximately 
$62,700 for Certified Local Government Grants. By law, 10 percent of the HPF award 
must be passed-through to CLG communities. 

 
The staff reviewed the grant applications and recommend the following applicants for 
funding: 

 
a) Town of Glocester, for Architectural and Engineering Review Assistance for the 

Chepachet Village Subgrant Program; recommended funding is $13,700. Ms. 
Pomplun explained that the town of Glocester proposes to contract with an 
architectural firm specializing in historic preservation to prepare architectural and 
engineering plans for all successful applicants of the town’s federally funded Historic 
Revitalization Subgrant Program (HRSP), the $250,000 grant for bricks-and-mortar 
restoration projects in Chepachet that they were awarded last fall. The goal of the 
project is to ensure that all subgrants will have accurate cost estimating and to 
streamline the preparation of plans and specifications for each project. 
 
Ms. Taylor asked if the HRSP grant that the town received is a one-cycle grant. Ms. 
Pomplun replied that it is. Mr. Schoettle asked if there is a match required for our 
CLG grants. Ms. Pomplun replied that the HRSP does not require a match. The CLG 
grant also does not require a match, but the application scores higher if there is a 



RIHPHC MINUTES     5               March 11, 2020 
 

match. 
 

b) City of Providence, to be deferred to Preserve Rhode Island, for the 36th Annual 
Statewide Historic Preservation Conference; recommended funding is $10,000. 
Ms. Pomplun explained that the grant will fund planning and preparation for the 2021 
statewide conference, to be held in April 2021 at a time and place to be determined. 
The statewide preservation advocacy non-profit Preserve Rhode Island will assist 
with planning and administration of the conference. 
 

c) City of East Providence, for National Register nomination of the Former William R. 
Watters and Arthur E. Platt Middle Schools; recommended funding is $10,000. 
Ms. Pomplun explained that the City proposes to hire a consultant to prepare a 
National Register nomination for the two schools - built in 1957 and 1922- which are 
located on adjacent parcels in a residential neighborhood. The City has received 
recent inquiries from non-profit and other organizations regarding renovation of the 
two structures for a variety of potential uses and aims to encourage restoration and 
use that is compatible with the surrounding neighborhood. Ms. Pomplun noted that 
the buildings were slated for demolition as recently as last year, but advocacy by the 
City's planning department for preservation of the buildings has been successful. 
 

d) City of East Providence, for Interpretive Signage Plan and Design; recommended 
funding is $9,000. Ms. Pomplun explained that the City originally proposed a project 
to design, manufacture, and install two interpretive sign panels - one at Bold Point 
Park focusing on Green Jacket Shoal and another at the Former Navy Rifle Range in 
Rumford. The manufacture and installation costs are not eligible under National Park 
Service rules. RIHPHC staff worked with the City to develop a modified scope of 
work that includes hiring a consultant to write an interpretive signage plan for the city 
which will include identifying appropriate locations for interpretation, designing a 
standard template for interpretive panels, and researching and completing drafts of 
one or two panels that the City may then produce and install using other funds. 
 

e) Town of Bristol, to be deferred to the Bristol Historical & Preservation Society, for 
an Educational Video Program for historic district commission members and the 
public; recommended funding is $7,500. Ms. Pomplun explained that the Bristol 
Historical & Preservation Society will write and produce ten short videos, each 
focusing on a common issue faced by owners of historic homes. Topics may include 
window restoration, gutters and roofs, composite materials, demolition by neglect, 
building systems, infill construction, new construction, additions, adaptive reuse, and 
climate change. The goal of the project is to develop an easily-viewable "library" of 
best practices under current HDC guidelines. The videos will be posted on the town's 
website.  
 
Dr. Grefe commented that she believes the $7,500 to be too low. The Rhode Island 
Historical Society recently did a three-minute video that ran into the thousands of 
dollars. Ms. Pomplun replied that there may be a quality/quantity threshold to reach. 
 



RIHPHC MINUTES     6               March 11, 2020 
 

Ms. Taylor stated that it may be a good idea to see one video and offer any necessary 
comments before they do a second. Dr. Morenon asked if we have reviewed 
specifications for the videos. Ms. Pomplun replied that we have not. Ms. Kelley 
stated that trying to tackle climate change may be too much, and Mr. Schoettle opined 
that looking statewide might, as well.  

 
f) Town of Bristol, to be deferred to Coggeshall Farm Museum, for Design of a 

Coggeshall Farmhouse Drainage System; recommend funding of $6,000. 
Ms. Pomplun explained that the grant will enable the Coggeshall Farm Museum to 
hire a consultant to design a re-grading plan and drainage system for the circa 1790 
farmhouse, which is experiencing water infiltration through the foundation. 
Ms. Pomplun noted that "exterior re-grading and water run-off mitigation" is a 
recommendation of the 2017 Historic Structures Report completed for the farmhouse 
and partially funded by RIHPHC with State Preservation Grant funds. 
 
Dr. Morenon asked if the project includes archaeology around the foundation, stating 
that there is an interesting archaeological record of history and prehistory around the 
building. Ms. Pomplun replied that it does not, however, this grant would be for the 
design only, and we could flag that issue. 
 

g) City of Newport, to be deferred to Church Community Housing Corporation, for 
a Newport Spring National Register Update; recommend funding of $5,000. The 
application as submitted requested $16,500 towards additional excavation of the 
Newport Town Spring site, and nomination of the site to the National Register. 
RIHPHC staff feel strongly that additional digging at this point is not in the best 
interest of the resource, and that documentation of the site is sufficient to complete an 
amendment to the existing Newport National Historic Landmark District that will 
recognize the spring as a contributing resource and highlight its significance. The 
RIHPHC staff recommends a much smaller grant of $5,000 to achieve this goal. 
 

h) City of Providence, to be deferred to Preserve Rhode Island, for Scholarships for the 
35th Annual Preservation Conference; recommend funding of $1,500. The RIHPHC 
staff proposes a reserve grant to Preserve Rhode Island that will fund registration for 
up to 30 conference attendees in 2020. Attendees must be members of R.I. historic 
district commissions or HDC municipal support staff.  
 
Dr. Grefe asked for clarification that the $10,000 proposed earlier is for the 2021 
conference and this is for the 2020 conference. Ms. Pomplun stated that is correct. 
Mr. Schoettle stated that some towns, like Providence, already pay for their staff and 
commissioners to attend the conference. Dr. Grefe stated that Pawtucket does, as 
well. 

 
Ms. Pomplun reported that one project is not recommended for funding: the Town of 
Cumberland, for a Landscape Plan for Ashton Village Gateway. The application 
requested $10,000 towards a landscape plan for the intersection of Mendon Road and 
Store Hill Road in Cumberland. Elements of the plan would include establishing property 



RIHPHC MINUTES     7               March 11, 2020 
 

boundaries, design of landscape and hardscape improvements, identification of a location 
for a National Park Service monument sign, identification of site location and 
specifications for a RIPTA bus shelter, tree clearing, and interpretive and directional 
signage for the Kelly House and Keefe Wall monument. Staff does not recommend 
funding as the project's primary objective is to clean up the intersection, and 
preservation/interpretation elements of the project are minimal. 
 
Ms. Taylor proposed a motion to accept the staff recommendations for awarding the 
Certified Local Government Grants as presented and agreement with the project that is 
not recommended for funding. The motion was seconded by Ms. Searle. Ms Kelley asked 
if she could refrain from voting on the Newport Spring project, as she is involved in it. 
Ms. Taylor stated that we have, in previous years, established that she can vote on the 
slate without having a conflict of interest on any single project. The Commission voted 
unanimously to approve the motion. 

 
  

7 For consideration:  John Brown House Great Lawn rehabilitation project 
52 Power Street, Providence  

 
Dr. Grefe recused herself and left the meeting room. 
 
Joanna Doherty reported that the Rhode Island Historical Society (RIHS) is planning a 
landscape project at its John Brown House. The RIHPHC holds an easement on the 
property, including the landscape, which requires the RIHS to seek approval for projects 
that involve physical changes to the property. In terms of the landscape, the easement 
specifically states that there shall be “no significant alteration of the topography, and no 
removal or cutting down of specimen trees, except as may be required by good 
husbandry.” RIHS is looking for the Commission to approve the design concept, though 
the plans are still in an early phase.  
 
The John Brown House was built between 1786 and 1788. It stayed in the family for 
many generations – until 1901, when it was sold to wealthy industrialist/banker Marsden 
Perry. Around 1840, Robert Hale Ives built a home on the northwest corner of the 
property. That house remained in the Gammell family until 1919. In 1923, it, too, was 
purchased by Marsden Perry. Soon after, the Gammell house and stable were demolished 
so that Perry could expand the grounds of the Brown House.  
 
In 1904, soon after Marsden Perry had acquired the John Brown House, he engaged the 
Olmsted Brothers to produce a landscape design for his property. The Olmsted Brothers 
plan called for a promenade encircling much of the yard, with open lawn in the center 
dotted by specimen trees and a fountain. A terrace was constructed between the grounds 
and the house, with a marble balustrade and a pergola at its northern end, and a set of 
stairs to the promenade. There were heavy plantings along the northern property line and 
a hedge inside the perimeter fence. 
 
In the mid-20th century, the property was sold to John Nicholas Brown and it was later 



RIHPHC MINUTES     8               March 11, 2020 
 

given to RIHS. The circular path was removed at some point during this period, as were 
the fountain at the center of the path and most of the plantings. Some trees were added, 
though many have since died. Dutch Elm disease has claimed over a dozen trees at the 
property; just three elms remain and all are infected.  

 
The RIHS is developing a plan for rehabilitating the Great Lawn, to coincide with the 
Society’s 200th anniversary in 2022. The goals of the project include: improving ADA 
access within the grounds and from the grounds to the house; improving the utility of the 
landscape for public programming and events; recreating the shaded grove that was 
historically on the site, but in a sustainable way; and expanding interpretation of the 
property to include the 19th-century landscape/site history.  
 
The plan is being developed by BETA Group. It will create pedestrian circulation paths 
within the lawn, including recreating the circular path from the Olmsted Brothers design, 
creating another curvilinear path in the northern section of the property, and creating a 
path from a redesigned parking area to the pergola at an ADA-accessible grade. Electrical 
conduit, lighting at the parking lot and along the paths, and security cameras at the 
parking lot will be installed. Some new vegetation will be installed. The parking lot will 
be redesigned within the existing footprint. Interpretive signage will be installed to tell 
the story of the landscape and of Gilded Age Providence. 
 
The RIHPHC staff recommends approval of the plan. 
 
Mr. Schoettle stated that he is concerned about the intersection of the two loop pathways 
and not referencing the spur that is shown in the Olmsted design. Ms. Kelley stated that 
she would like to see an overlay of the Olmsted plan on the proposed. Ms. Taylor asked 
if, since Dr. Grefe recused herself and there is not a representative of the RIHS in the 
room, there is a way that the commissioners could get their comments to the RIHS. Ms. 
Doherty stated that the staff can do that.  
 
Ms. Taylor asked if any of the commissioners object to the project in total or in theory. 
None of the commissioners replied that they object. Ms. Searle stated that the plan is a 
great improvement to the property.  
 
Mr. Schoettle asked if we have a sense as to why John Nicholas Brown removed the 
Olmsted landscape. Ms. Doherty replied that we do not. 
 
Mr. Abbott made a motion to accept the conceptual plan as presented. Ms. Kelley 
seconded the motion. The commissioners voted unanimously to approve the motion. 
 
Dr. Grefe returned to the meeting.  
 
Ms. Searle asked Dr. Grefe how much thought was given to programming in design of 
the plan. Dr. Grefe replied that it was a two-year process basically designed around 
programming. The electrical and parking are designed specifically for programming. The 
design creates “rooms”. 



RIHPHC MINUTES     9               March 11, 2020 
 

 
Ms. Kelley asked if a tree list has been developed. Dr. Grefe replied that an early 
proposal was made, but they are still working on it. There are no additional elms because 
disease-resistant elms are dying nationwide. They may use some tulip poplars, preserve 
the copper beech, and retain a pin-oak that has already been planted. 
 
Mr. Abbott observed that a question came up about the spur off the loop path and asked if 
the connection between the two loops could be made by a spur, instead of an intersection. 
Dr. Grefe replied that there is no evidence as to what the spur was connected to. It could 
be discussed, but it could change the overall plan. 
 
Mr. Abbott mentioned that the question also arose about why the landscape design was 
removed. Dr. Grefe replied that the previous owners did not leave records as to why they 
removed landscape elements. The RIHS assumed control of the property in 1942. 
Marsden Perry had a groundskeeping staff, but the RIHS did not. The fountain was 
already gone when the RIHS got the property, and the acreage was likely heavily 
rhododendroned. The financial obligation to treat the 37 – at one time – elms for Dutch 
Elm disease was not sustainable. By the 1970s, it was largely a tree-based landscape.  
 
Mr. Schoettle asked what the path material is. Dr. Grefe replied that it is low-dust crushed 
stone. There will be no true hardscaping. 
 
Ms. Taylor stated that the commissioners are interested in the gross project and its details 
and looks forward to updates. 

 
 
8. Old Business 
  

Mr. Emidy stated that we have a purchase order for the Old State House project. 
Contractors may start as early as in a couple of weeks removing brownstone to make up 
replacement pieces, and the staging could come soon after. Staff are told that we may not 
have access to both of our parking lots into, if not for all of, the summer. 
 
Ms. Taylor asked who the general contractor is for the project. Roberta Randall replied 
that it is Martone Construction.  

 
 
9. New Business   
 

Mr. Emidy reported that a project at Beavertail Lighthouse, in Jamestown, has come to 
the attention of the Commission staff, but it did so after the agenda for this meeting was 
posted, so we cannot take action on it now. We do, however, want to give the 
commissioners information about the situation and get their initial reactions and 
questions today.  
 
Approximately half of the metal roof of the Beavertail Foghorn Building roof blew off in 



RIHPHC MINUTES     10               March 11, 2020 
 

a recent windstorm. The Beavertail Lighthouse Museum Association (BLMA) has 
contacted the RIHPHC about the possibility of getting a grant to pay for the repair work.  

 
The BLMA has received two quotes for the needed work: one for approximately $25,000 
and one for approximately $40,000. A third quote is expected soon. The RIHPHC is 
considering an “emergency State Preservation Grant” to the BLMA of between 
approximately $13,000 and $20,000. The money is available in our grant budget, and the 
BLMA, which has received SPGs in the past, is eligible. 
 
Complicating the matter is who is actually responsible for repairing the building. The 
U.S. Coast Guard owns the property, but has an agreement with the R.I. Department of 
Environmental Management (RIDEM), which runs a state park at the site. The RIDEM 
has an agreement with the BLMA, giving it permission to use the property.  
 
Mr. Abbott asked if this was the original roof. Ms. Randall replied that the original roof 
was metal.  
 
Ms. Taylor stated that we need to know who is responsible for the repair. Ms. Pomplun 
stated that is still a question. We have copies of the agreements between the Coast Guard, 
DEM, and the BLMA, but none mention maintenance.  
 
Ms. Pomplun asked the commissioners: we would like to know about an “emergency 
grant”. Do we want to provide emergency grants, and if so, are current grantees 
prioritized? Dr. Grefe asked if other organizations would know to apply for this type of 
grant. Ms. Pomplun replied that the standard answer to cold calls is that we don’t have a 
grant round right now, but those are typically maintenance requests, and this is an 
emergency. 
 
Ms. Taylor asked the commissioners if any of them think that the Commission ought not 
to do this. None of the commissioners expressed any doubt. 
 
Dr. Grefe stated that the big question is whether or not someone else should be paying for 
this. Dr. Morenon asked, why isn’t the Coast Guard responsible?  
 
Ms. Taylor asked if it is fair to say that the consensus of the commissioners is that this is 
acceptable, but that we want to know that the Coast Guard and RIDEM are aware of the 
issue and have declined to undertake the repairs. Commissioners indicated agreement.  
 
Ms. Pomplun stated that it is worth asking the BLMA who has done work on the building 
before. Diane Bakley, president of the BLMA, stated that she has spoken to RIDEM and 
they feel that it is not their responsibility. Ms. Taylor replied that their feeling and their 
obligation may be different. Dr. Grefe stated that RIDEM needs to come to the table to 
discuss this.  
 
Mr. Schoettle asked that the Commission staff consider developing a policy about what 
will be done with leftover funds in the SPG program. 



RIHPHC MINUTES     11               March 11, 2020 
 
 
 
10. Announcements 

 
The next Commission meeting will be held April 8, 2020 at the same location. 

 
 
11. Adjourn 
 
 The meeting adjourned at 11:03 am. 
 
 
Minutes recorded by, 

 
Jeffrey D. Emidy 
Deputy Director 
Deputy State Historic Preservation Officer 
 


